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1
Statement of Claim, Mikisew Cree First  Nation, Re: Failure of the Crown in Right of Canada

to Pro vide C ollective  Eco nom ic Be nefits P ursua nt to T reaty 8, J anua ry 199 3 (ICC  Do cum ents, p p. 83 -140 ). A

Ban d Co uncil R esolu tion da ted D ecem ber 9 , 199 2, had  autho rized th e sub missio n of th e claim  (ICC

Docu ments, pp. 81-82). See also the co vering letter, Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, P iasta, Roth & D ay, Barristers &

Solicitors, to Manfred Klein, Specific Claims West,  referring to an enclosed Band Council Resolution and the

Statement of Claim, January 12, 1993 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 182-83). A subsequent letter requests an

ame ndm ent to th e State men t of Cla im, su ch am endm ent ac kno wled ging  an an nual a llocatio n of am mun ition to

the Ban d: Jerom e Slavik to M anfred K lein, January 22 , 1993 (IC C D ocum ents, p. 184).

2
The writer of the letter had qualified the decision as a “preliminary” one; effectively he

invited the First Nation to pursue the claim further by submitting more evidence or written argument. Allan

Tallman, Specific Claims West, DIAND , to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta,  Roth & Day, Barristers and

Solicitors, Ma rch 29, 19 94 (ICC  Docu ments, pp . 193-94).

3
Rem W estland, Director General,  Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan,

June 12 , 1995 (IC C D ocum ents, pp. 412 -13).

4
Mike Bouliane, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND , to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta,  Roth &

Day, B arristers and So licitors, February 7, 199 6 (ICC  Docu ments, p. 42 6).

5
Jerom e Slav ik, A ckro yd, Pia sta, Ro th &  Day , Barris ters &  Solicito rs, to the  Indian  Claim s

Com mission, Feb ruary 23, 19 96 (ICC  Docu ments, pp . 427-28).

PART I

INTRODUCTION

In January 1993, the Mikisew Cree First Nation submitted a specific claim to the Minister for Indian

Affairs and Northern Development,1 seeking the provision of economic benefits under Treaty 8. The

First Nation was informed in March 1994 that the Department of Indian Affairs and Northhern

Development (DIAND) had made a preliminary decision to reject the claim,2 but neither party

appeared to consider this decision to be final. More correspondence and meetings followed, and in

mid-June 1995 DIAND indicated that it was willing to discuss the First Nation’s claim under the

Specific Claims Policy (subject to formal acceptance).3 In responding to later enquiries by the First

Nation, Canada took the position that acceptance of the claim for negotiation was in abeyance until

a policy review of economic benefits claims was completed.4

 On February 23, 1996, in the absence of a clear decision from the Minister on whether the

claim would be accepted for negotiation, the First Nation asked the Indian Claims Commission (the

Commission) to conduct an inquiry. The basis for the request was that the Department’s conduct and

delay were tantamount to a rejection of the claim.5
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6
Franç ois D aigle, C oun sel, D epartm ent of J ustice, to  Isa G ros-Lo uis A hena kew , Ass ociate

Legal Counsel, Indian Claims Commission, June 12, 1996 (ICC D ocuments, pp. 464-74). The writer stated

that “Canada does not agree or admit that the claim has been rejected. The claimant has been advised that the

acceptance of the claim for negotiation has been postponed pending the results of a review of the issue from a

policy  persp ective. T he m atter is still un der rev iew.”

7
Ron S. Maurice, Commission Counsel,  Indian Claims Commission, to Jerome Slavik,

Ac kroyd , Piasta , Roth  & D ay, Ba rristers &  Solicito rs, and  to Fran çois D aigle, C oun sel, Sp ecific C laims

Ottaw a, No vem ber 1 8, 19 96. S ee A ppen dix A  to this rep ort.

8
 See In dian C laims C omm ission, P lannin g Co nfere nce, M ikisew  Cree  First N ation, T reaty

Entitlemen t to Econo mic Be nefits, Ottawa, Ju ne 14, 19 96 (ICC  Docu ments, p. 55 0).

9
Facsimile Transmission Sheet, Mamaw i Developments Ltd., Fort Chipewyan, Alta, to Indian

Claims Commission, Ottawa, with attached letters: (1) Dawn Waquan, Coordinator/Researcher, Mikisew Cree

First N ation, to  Indian  Claim s Co mm ission, N ovem ber 1 9, 19 96; an d (2) J ohn  Sinc lair, As sistant D eputy

Minister,  Claims and Indian Government,  DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First  Nation,

November 7, 1996.

10
John Sinclair, Assistant Deputy Minister, DIAND , to Chief Archie Waquan, M ikisew Cree

First Nation, D ecemb er 16, 199 6 (Ap pendix B ).

11
Ian Gray, Senior Negotiator, Specific Claims Branch, DIAND , to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,

Piasta , Roth  & D ay, Ba rristers &  Solicito rs, Jan uary 1 7, 19 97. 

Canada’s response, on learning of the request, was that the Commission had no authority to

consider the matter, since the First Nation’s specific claim had not actually been rejected.6 Each party

submitted written arguments to the Commission. In mid-November 1996, Commission counsel

advised the First Nation and Canada that a decision had been made to proceed with the inquiry

requested by the First Nation.7 A planning conference had already been held in June 1996, and a

community session was scheduled for late November 1996.8

On November 20, 1996, the Commission received word that Canada had accepted the claim

for negotiation.9 Canada’s formal offer to negotiate was dated December 16, 1996.10 A meeting

between the parties was planned for February 3, 1997.11 

This report sets out the background to the First Nation’s claim and is based entirely on the

documents the First Nation provided to the Commission. In view of Canada’s decision to accept the

claim, no further steps have been taken by the Commission to inquire into the First Nation’s claim,

and we make no findings of fact. This report is meant simply to advise the public that the First

Nation’s claim has been accepted for negotiation under the Specific Claims Policy.
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12
Commission issued September 1, 1992, pursuant to Order in Council PC 1992-1730, July 27,

1992, amending the Commission issued to Chief Commissioner Harry S. LaForme on August 21, 1991,

pursuant to Order in Council  PC 1991-1329, July 15, 1991.

13
D I A N D , Outstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy – Specific Claims (Ottawa: Minister of

Supp ly and Service s, 1982).

MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

The Commission was established in 1991 to assist First Nations and Canada in the negotiation and

fair resolution of specific claims. Order in Council PC 1992-1730 empowers the Commission to

inquire into and report on whether or not Canada properly rejected a specific claim:

AND WE DO HEREBY advise that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada’s Specific
Claims Policy published in 1982 and subsequent formal amendments or additions as
announced by the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development (hereinafter
“the Minister”), by considering only those matters at issue when the dispute was
initially submitted to the Commission, inquire into and report on:

a) whether a claimant has a valid claim for negotiation under the Policy where
that claim has already been rejected by the Minister; and 

b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a settlement, where a
claimant disagrees with the Minister’s determination of the applicable
criteria.12

If the Commission had completed the inquiry into the Mikisew Cree First Nation’s claim,

the Commissioners would have evaluated that claim based upon Canada’s Specific Claims Policy.

DIAND has explained that policy in a booklet entitled Outstanding Business: A Native Claims Policy

– Specific Claims.13 In particular, the government says that when considering specific claims:

it will recognize claims by Indian bands which disclose an outstanding “lawful
obligation,” i.e., an obligation derived from the law on the part of the federal
government.

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances:

i) The non-fulfillment of a treaty or agreement between Indians and the Crown.
. . .
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THE CLAIMS PROCESS

As outlined in Outstanding Business, a First Nation may submit its specific claim to the Minister of

Indian Affairs, who acts on behalf of the Government of Canada. The claimant First Nation begins

the process by submitting a clear and concise statement of claim, along with a comprehensive

historical and factual background on which the claim is based. The claim is referred to DIAND’s

Specific Claims Branch (formerly Office of Native Claims). Specific Claims generally conducts its

own confirming research into a claim, makes claim-related research findings in its possession

available to the claimants, and consults with them at each stage of the review process.

Once all the necessary information has been gathered, the facts and documents will be

referred by Specific Claims to the Department of Justice (Justice) for advice on the federal

government’s lawful obligation. Generally, if Justice finds that the claim discloses an outstanding

lawful obligation, the First Nation is advised, and Specific Claims will offer to enter into

compensation negotiations.

The present claim was first submitted to the Minister in January 1993. Three years later, the

First Nation had not received any definite answer as to whether its claim would be accepted for

negotiation. In February 1996, the First Nation asked the Commission to conduct an inquiry into the

merits of the claim, based on the argument that DIAND’s delay was sufficient to bring the claim

within the Commission’s authority.



14
Statem ent of C laim, p aragr aph 2  (ICC  Do cum ents, p . 84); A . Tallm an (S pecific  Claim s

We st), “Mikisew  Cree First N ation, Collective E conom ic Bene fits Pursuant to T reaty No. 8 –  Preliminary

Ana lysis,” October 2 0, 1993  (ICC D ocum ents, p. 144).

PART II

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

BACKGROUND TO THE FIRST NATION’S CLAIM

The Mikisew Cree First Nation is located in northeastern Alberta and was previously known as the

Fort Chipewyan Cree Band. Most of the First Nation’s 1874 members live off reserve in Fort

Chipewyan. The First Nation’s reserve lands were not set aside for it until the late 1980s.14

The First Nation’s representatives signed Treaty 8 in 1899. The treaty included the following

obligations which were undertaken by Canada:

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees and undertakes to lay aside reserves for
such bands as desire reserves . . . and for such families or individual Indians as may
prefer to live apart from band reserves, Her Majesty undertakes to provide land in
severalty . . . the selection of such reserves, and lands in severalty, . . . to be made .
. . after consulting with the Indians concerned as to the locality which may be found
suitable and open for selection.
. . .

FURTHER, Her Majesty agrees to supply each Chief of a Band that selects a
reserve, for the use of that Band, ten axes, five hand-saws, five augers, one
grindstone, and the necessary files and whetstones. 

FURTHER, Her Majesty agrees that each Band that elects to take a reserve and
cultivate the soil, shall, as soon as convenient after such reserve is set aside and
settled upon, and the Band has signified its choice and is prepared to break up the
soil, receive two hoes, one spade, one scythe and two hay forks for every family so
settled, and for every three families one plough and one harrow, and to the Chief, for
the use of his Band, two horses or a yoke of oxen, and for each Band potatoes, barley,
oats and wheat . . . and to every family one cow, and every Chief one bull, and one
mowing-machine and one reaper for the use of his Band when it is ready for them;
for such families as prefer to raise stock instead of cultivating the soil, every family
of five persons, two cows, and every Chief two bulls and two mowing-machines
when ready for their use, and a like proportion for smaller or larger families. The
aforesaid articles, machines and cattle to be given one for all for the encouragement
of agriculture and stock raising; and for such Bands as prefer to continue hunting and
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15
 Treaty N o. 8 , IAND  Publication  No. O S-0576 -000-EE -A-16, A ppend ix I to the First Nation’s

Statemen t of Claim (IC C D ocum ents, pp. 99-10 0).

16
Report of Commissioners for Treaty No. 8, Appendix I to the First  Nation’s Statement of

Claim (IC C D ocum ents, p. 94).

17
This  statem ent is co ntaine d in the  Ap ril 199 5 rep ort pre pared  by Sp ecific C laims W est:

“Econ omic B enefits and T reaty No. 8 B ands in A lberta 1899 -1940, T he Cree s of Fort Ch ipewyan  (Mikisew )”

(ICC Documents,  p. 306).  The statement is attributed to G. Card, reporting to the Assistant Deputy and

Secretary of the Department of Indian Affairs, August 15, 1922, National Archives of Canada [hereinafter

NA ], RG  10, vo l. 6921 , file 770 /28-3 p t 2). 

fishing, as much ammunition and twine for making nets annually as will amount in
value to one dollar per head of the families so engaged in hunting and fishing.15

The last of these clauses sometimes is referred to as a “cows and ploughs” entitlement.

The Report of Commissioners for Treaty No. 8 seems to indicate that the Commissioners

understood that it was unlikely that any of the Bands would make immediate requests for reserve

lands, or for the related economic benefits:

The assistance in farming and ranching is only to be given when the Indians actually
take to these pursuits, and it is not likely that for many years there will be a call for
any considerable expenditure under these heads. . . .

The Indians are given the option of taking reserves or land in severalty. . .
.[A]s the Indians were not prepared to make selections, we confined ourselves to an
undertaking to have reserves and holdings set apart in the future, and the Indians
were satisfied with the promise that this would be done when required. There is no
immediate necessity for the general laying out of reserves or the allotting of land. .
. .16

In 1922 the First Nation asked for reserve lands to be set aside. The Indian Agent responsible for the

Band commented on the request:

To protect their interests, as guaranteed by treaty, both [the Chipewyan and Cree of
Fort Chipewyan Bands] asked for a reserve, not for farming, as they had no wish to
farm, nor is the land suited for that purpose, but for hunting and trapping. To make
the matter definite, I requested both bands to apply for a reservation, naming the area
selected. This application has been received and is herewith attached.17
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18
The se statem ents ar e con tained  in the A pril 19 95 re port p repar ed by  Spe cific C laims W est,

“Econ omic B enefits and T reaty No. 8 B ands in A lberta 1899 -1940, T he Cree s of Fort Ch ipewyan  (Mikisew )”

(ICC Documents,  pp. 306-07). A corroborating source for the fiscal year 1922-23 is the Annuity Payment

Officer’s Report,  August 11, 1922, NA, RG 10, vol.  6921, fi le 779/28-3 pt 2.  For the fiscal year 1923-24, the

source is a report from Const. R.A. Williams to Fitzgerald, Officer Commanding the Royal Canadian Mounted

Police, August 6,  1923, NA, RG  10, vol. 6921, file 779/28-3 pt 2.  For the fiscal year 1927-28, the source is the

Ag ent's R epor t on A nnu ity Paym ents, 1 927 , NA , RG  10, vo l. 6921 , file 779 /28-3 p t 2. 

19
Agree ment, betw een H er Ma jesty the Que en in Rig ht of Can ada and  the Cree B and of Fo rt

Chipewyan, December 23, 1986.

20
Agreement,  December 23, 1986, pp. 1-2.

21
That part of Treaty 8 dealt only with the setting aside of reserve lands for a band, the

provision of land in severalty to individual families or band members, and the manner of selection of such

lands . See c lause  11 o f the 19 86 A greem ent.

Reports for that year, and the next, indicate that both Bands wanted reserve lands to be set

aside. Five years later, the Agent’s Report indicates that no reserve lands had been set aside for either

and notes that the Fort Chipewyan Cree were no longer interested in the establishment of reserve

lands.18

In 1986, Canada and the Cree Band of Fort Chipewyan came to an agreement dealing with

the Band’s reserve land entitlement under Treaty 8.19 The preamble to the Agreement states that the

Crown’s undertakings in Treaty 8 included the obligation to “lay aside reserves for such bands as

desire reserves. . . which may be found suitable and open for selection” and that the Crown “ha[d]

not fulfilled her obligations to the Cree Band in accordance with the aforementioned undertaking.”20

Since these obligations had not been met, Canada agreed to set aside reserve land (including land

within the boundaries of Wood Buffalo National Park), to guarantee certain wildlife harvesting rights

to the First Nation, to authorize and pay the costs of every boundary survey required for the

Agreement, and to pay cash compensation in the amount of $24 million.

The 1986 Agreement also contains a clause releasing the Crown from any further obligations

arising out of the clause in Treaty 8 which obliged the Crown “to lay aside reserves for such bands

as desire reserves . . . [or] to provide land in severalty. . . .” The release states:

It is understood by the Parties that this Agreement and in particular the covenants
contained herein are for total satisfaction of all obligations of Her Majesty relating
to land contained in the aforementioned part of the said Treaty21 and all manner of
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22
Agreement,  December 23, 1986, clause 11.

23
Statement of Claim, January 1993 (ICC Documents,  pp. 83-140), incorporating the

amen dmen t requested Ja nuary 22 , 1993 (IC C D ocum ents, p. 184).

24
Statement of Claim, as amended by the January 22, 1993, letter from Jerome Slavik,

Ac kroyd , Piasta , Roth  & D ay, Ba rristers &  Solicito rs, to M anfre d Kle in, Sp ecific C laims W est (IC C

Doc umen ts, p. 184).

25
Statemen t of Claim, pa ragraph 4  (ICC D ocum ents, p. 85).

costs, legal fees, travel and expenses expended by the said Band or its representatives
for the purpose of coming to this Agreement.22

There was no mention in the release clause of Canada’s obligations to provide the agricultural

(economic) benefits contemplated by Treaty 8, and the release clause did not refer to any claims

which the First Nation might bring other than in relation to land.

First Nation’s Statement of Claim 

The Statement of Claim23 refers to more than 60 years of “persistent efforts and requests” by the First

Nation to have reserve lands set aside. Even though they were requested, the Treaty 8 “collective

economic benefits” were not paid or delivered to the First Nation since no reserve lands were set

aside before the 1986 Agreement. The claimant says that the Band has no record of ever receiving

the economic benefits that were promised, except for an annual allocation of ammunition.24 No elder

or band member has any recollection of those other benefits having been received by the First

Nation.25

The First Nation submitted that since the Minister is in the position of a fiduciary, the

Minister must demonstrate that the economic benefits the First Nation is claiming were actually paid

or delivered to the Band. The claimant says that the 1986 Agreement dealt with compensation only

for the First Nation’s loss of the use and benefit of reserve lands. It pointed out that Canada settled

the economic benefits claims of the Woodland Cree and Lubicon Lake Bands for $25,000 per band

member, but, since the Mikisew First Nation was an original party to Treaty 8, rather than a band
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26
Statement of Claim, paragraph 7 (ICC Documents,  p.  86)

27
Statemen t of Claim, pa ragraph 1 3 (ICC  Docu ments, p. 88 ).

28
Paragraphs 8 and 10 of the Statutory Declaration of Archie Waquan, dated February 21, 1995

(ICC  Do cum ents, p p. 27 1-72 ). 

adhering to the treaty sometime after 1889 (as did the Woodland Cree and Lubicon Lake Bands), its

grievance has a comparatively longer history.26

The Statement of Claim seeks the prompt recognition and fulfilment of the First Nation’s

specific claim, namely compensation for the First Nation’s loss of the use of, and benefit from,

Treaty 8’s economic benefits, and argues that the Crown should now provide these collective

economic benefits to the Mikisew Cree First Nation “in a contemporary manner and form acceptable

to [the] First Nation.”27

In a sworn statement, Chief Archie Waquan, of the Mikisew Cree First Nation, says that

“[t]he first time I was apprised of our First Nation’s entitlement to certain economic benefits under

the terms of Treaty 8, including the ‘ploughs and cows’ provisions, was in 1991” and that “[t]o the

best of my knowledge or recollection such benefits have never been provided to the Mikisew Cree

First Nation.”28

The 1995 Specific Claims West Report

The report prepared by Specific Claims West for the Mikisew claim includes the following

observations and conclusions:

As this reference [in the Report of Commissioners for Treaty No. 8] makes clear, the
government never contemplated a blanket distribution of agriculturally-related
economic benefits to Treaty No. 8 bands. Instead, it planned to provide such
economic benefits only when the individual bands satisfied the conditions of the
Treaty for the receipt of such benefits.
. . .

. . . extant correspondence and other records leave little doubt that for the
most [part] Chiefs and headmen spoke frankly with visiting representatives of the
Department about bands’ needs and wants and that those representatives typically
facilitated most specific band requests. The main exception to this accommodation
involved requests for farm equipment and livestock from bands judged to be
inadequately prepared to undertake agriculture on a full-time basis.
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29
Specific Claims West, “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in Alberta,  1899-1940,

April 199 5" (ICC  Docu ments, pp . 282, 285 , 304).

30
Allan Tallman, Assistant Negotiator, Specific Claims West, DIAND , to Jerome Slavik,

Ackroyd, Piasta,  Roth & Day, Barristers & Solicitors,  October 20, 1993, and accompanying document,  “for

discussion purposes only,” “Mikisew Cree First  Nation, Collective Economic Benefits Pursuant to Treaty No.

8 – Prelim inary An alysis, October 2 0, 1993 " (ICC D ocum ents, pp. 141 -92).

31
Allan Tallman, Specific Claims West,  DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta,  Roth &

Day, B arristers & So licitors, March 2 9, 1994  (ICC D ocum ents, pp. 193 -94).

. . .
The economic situation of the Crees of Fort Chipewyan was [that] they had

always found their livelihood in the hunting, fishing and trapping resources of the
surrounding area. . . . the Crees had requested a reserve in 1922 because they feared
losing access to traditional resources and not because they had any interest in
farming. There are few records documenting economic benefits asked for and
received by this Band and only one deals with farm-related goods or services.
Instead, the surviving records emphasize the receipt of ammunition and fishing twine
into the 1940s.29

COMMUNICATIONS BETW EEN THE PARTIES

Approximately three years elapsed from the time the First Nation submitted the initial economic

benefits claim to the Minister for Indian Affairs to when it was determined that the Commission

would hold an inquiry. During this period Canada and the First Nation had an exchange of

correspondence.

The First Nation’s first Statement of Claim is dated January 1993. Late in October 1993, the

First Nation received a summary of the claim from Specific Claims West.30 After Specific Claims

West received the First Nation’s response to the summary, the claim was referred to Justice for an

opinion whether there was “a lawful obligation under the Specific Claims Policy.”

Justice’s opinion became known at the end of March 1994: the claim had not established an

outstanding lawful obligation on the part of Canada to the First Nation, since the nonfulfilment of

a treaty or agreement between the First Nation and the Crown had not been shown.31 Canada’s

position was that the Treaty 8 economic benefits could only be claimed once a band had made an

election for reserve lands and chosen between agriculture and stock-raising. No reserve lands had
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32
See 1 986  Ag reem ent.

33
Jerom e Slav ik, A ckro yd, Pia sta, Ro th &  Day , Barris ters &  Solicito rs, to A . Tallm an, S pecific

Claims W est, DIAN D, A pril 11, 1994  (ICC D ocum ents, pp. 195 -96).

34
Ch ief A rchie W aqua n, M ikisew  Cree  First N ation, to  Ma nfred  Klein , Spe cific C laims W est,

DIA ND , July 25, 199 4 (ICC  Docu ments, pp . 197-99, esp ecially paragraph  9 at p. 199).

35
Allan Tallman, Negotiator,  Specific Claims West,  DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,

Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers & Solicitors,  November 9, 1994. As well, Specific Claims West wrote the

Executive Director of the Athabasca Tribal Corporation on December 8, 1994, advising that research on the

fulfilment of the economic benefits provisions of Treaty 8 was “currently well underway” and that the Tribal

Corporation would be contacted once the research paper had been reviewed by Specific Claims West. Manfred

P. Klein, Director, Specific Claims West, DIAN D, to Tony Punko, Executive Director, Athabasca Tribal

Corpo ration, Dece mber 8 , 1994 (IC C D ocum ents, pp. 208 -09).

been set aside until after the 1986 Agreement,32 and there was no evidence of an election by the Band

between agriculture and stock-raising. However, since this was Canada’s “preliminary” position, the

Band was invited to submit additional evidence or argument.

In April 1994, counsel for the First Nation rejected Canada’s preliminary position and

requested a meeting.33 It appears that the parties then met for discussions in Fort McMurray on June

15, 1994. Chief Archie Waquan later set out the Mikisew position in writing and requested another

meeting with Specific Claims West to clear away any remaining “impediments” to the claim. Chief

Waquan said he did not think that any further archival research into the First Nation’s receipt of

agricultural economic benefits would be necessary, since the setting aside of reserve lands, which

had to happen before an election for agricultural benefits, had not taken place until after the 1986

Agreement.34

Correspondence on November 9, 1994, refers to a research report commissioned by Specific

Claims West to determine the extent to which Treaty 8 bands were provided with economic

benefits.35 The draft of this report, entitled “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in Alberta,
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36
B. Potyondi and T.M. Homik, “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in Alberta, 1899-

1940,” draft report prepared for Specific Claims West, January 9, 1995 (ICC Documents pp. 214-66). The ICC

Documents include a January 30, 1995, “without prejudice” covering letter from DIAND, with neither the addressee

nor sender indicated, but apparently meant to accompany copies of the draft version of the research report. The letter

specifies that, unlike the draft report, “[a] final report would contain statements which. . . have been confirmed in the

historical reco rd. . . .” The w riter limits the purp ose of the rep ort to the “pro vi[sion of] ba ckground  information to

the issue of the distribution of economic benefits to the First Nations which signed Treaty 8 in Alberta” (ICC

Documents, p. 267).

37
Allan Tallman, Negotiator,  Specific Claims West,  DIAND, to Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd,

Piasta , Roth  & D ay, Ba rristers &  Solicito rs, No vem ber 9 , 199 4 (ICC  Do cum ents, p p. 20 0-01 ). 

38
Man fred P. Klein, D irector, DIA ND , to Jerome S lavik, Ack royd, Piasta, R oth & D ay,

Barristers & S olicitors, Novem ber 25, 19 94 (ICC  Docu ments, p. 20 2).

1899-1940,” appears to have been circulated late in January 1995.36 Two letters explained why

Specific Claims West had taken the position that the research was necessary:

 
The research will focus on determining whether there is evidence that individual
bands made a request for particular economic benefits and evidence that any
economic benefits were delivered.37

The research is required because we want to deal definitively with the issue and not
have it drag on for years to come to the detriment of the First Nation and we want to
ensure that we have a well documented file when it is submitted to the Department
of Justice for review and analysis.38

Late in January 1995 the Director General of the Specific Claims Branch of DIAND wrote

to the Director of Specific Claims West setting out the approach of the Branch to economic benefits

under treaty:

One of the responsibilities of this branch is to assure that the [Specific Claims] Policy
is not used inappropriately. For example this Policy is not intended to be a source of
funding for economic development, though a First Nation may well want to direct
compensation for a claim towards investments which will improve the economic
development opportunities of its members.

. . . In the case of claims for economic benefits under treaty . . . [w]e would
require a demonstration that the benefits promised by treaty were requested by a First
Nation at some point in history, and that the response(s) by Canada were of a kind
which created an outstanding lawful obligation as may be assessed by DOJ
[Department of Justice]  under the criteria of the Policy.
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Rem W estland, Director General,  Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Manfred Klein,
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41
“Econ omic B enefits and T reaty No. 8 B ands in A lberta, 1899-19 40: The  Crees of Fo rt

Chipew yan (M ikisew),” A pril 1995 (IC C D ocum ents pp. 27 3-401).

42
Chief Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First  Nation, to Rem Westland, DIAND , May 5, 1995

(ICC D ocum ents, p. 402).

If the record shows that such benefits were never requested, and that what we
are facing is a first time request, DOJ will still assess in the usual way whether a
lawful obligation under the Policy exists. The branch would not view such a claim
as a high priority for the assignment of scarce time and resources, however.

In either case I would expect DOJ and ourselves, to assess the extent to which
Canada’s support to the claimant First Nation(s) over time has effectively met the
objective of the treaty provision(s). If the treaties promise implements to assist the
transition to farming, for example, I think the record will show in most cases that
Canada’s support far exceeded a strict one-time provision of “cows and ploughs.”39

The Director of Specific Claims West was authorized to share this letter with any interested First

Nations representatives.40

In April 1995 a version of the January 1995 report was prepared by Specific Claims West for

the Mikisew Cree First Nation with the title “Economic Benefits and Treaty No. 8 Bands in Alberta,

1899-1940: The Crees of Fort Chipewyan (Mikisew).” It seemed to confirm that the First Nation had

not received any agricultural tools/implements, livestock, or seed under Treaty 8.41

Early in May 1995, the First Nation’s Chief asked for a decision on the negotiation of the

First Nation’s claim for economic benefits.42 The response from DIAND was equivocal. That letter,

dated June 12, 1995, and marked “without prejudice,” included the following:

It is our view that there may be an obligation under Treaty 8 to provide the articles
as specified in Treaty 8 to the MCFN [Mikisew Cree First Nation]. We further
believe that the obligation is limited to the actual items mentioned in the treaty and
to the number of families actually settled on the reserve.

As discussed . . . there are . . . two options available to the First Nation. The
First Nation may pursue the specific claims process or can await the outcome of
(and/or participate in) the developing Indian-Government process to determine how
treaties should be understood and implemented in contemporary terms.
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43
Rem W estland, Director General,  Specific Claims Branch, DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan,

Mikisew  Cree First N ation, June 1 2, 1995  (ICC D ocum ents, pp. 412 -13).

44
Manfred P. Klein, Director,  [Specific Claims West],  DIAND, to Chief Archie Waquan,

Mikisew  Cree First N ation, Au gust 2, 199 5 (ICC  Docu ments, pp . 418-19).

45
Ch ief A rchie W aqua n, M ikisew  Cree  First N ation, to  Ma nfred  Klein , Spe cific C laims W est,

DIA ND , Augu st 17, 1995  (ICC D ocum ents, p. 420).

Subject to your agreement to proceed and a formal letter accepting your claim
from DIAND’s Assistant Deputy Minister of Claims and Indian Government, the
Specific Claims Branch is prepared to enter into discussions concerning the First
Nation’s claim within the parameters of the Specific Claims Policy and DIAND’s
legal position. DIAND would view entering into discussion as part of unfinished
business arising from the First Nation’s 1986 treaty land entitlement settlement.

DIAND anticipates that any settlement reached under the Specific Claims
Policy will bear a direct relationship to the actual benefits specified in the treaty. This
approach is in accord with the legal position that the department has received with
respect to the interpretation of the treaty positions.

To reiterate, your alternative is to participate in the planned treaty policy
development process and to help determine in that context how economic benefit
provisions of treaties might be assessed on a contemporary basis. If your expectation
exceeds what could be provided under a specific claim (in return for a full release),
it may be more appropriate for your First Nation to await the outcome of the treaties
review process.43

The parties met on July 25, 1995, to discuss the claim. DIAND again stated its offer to

negotiate the claim, still subject to the conditions set out in the June 12, 1995, letter. The Band was

asked to confirm that its members wished to proceed under the specific claims process and was told

that an “acceptance package” would then be prepared. DIAND stated that any settlement “[would]

have to bear a direct relationship to the actual benefits specified in the Treaty” and therefore would

not follow the approach taken to value the economic benefits in other bands’ treaty land entitlement

settlements.44 

In August 1995 the First Nation gave written confirmation that it wished to negotiate

settlement of the claim “pursuant to the economic benefits provisions of Treaty 8, as set out in our

Statement of Claim.”45 Correspondence over the next six months included a December 1995 letter

from the First Nation asking what the status was of the promised acceptance package, a January 1996

letter from the First Nation requesting a meeting to obtain a “clear and straight answer” why the First
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46
 Jerome Slavik, Ackroyd, Piasta, Roth & Day, Barristers & Solicitors, to Mike Bouliane,

Acting Director, Treaty Land Entitlements, DIAND, December 19, 1995 (ICC D ocuments, p. 423). Chief

Archie Waquan, Mikisew Cree First Nation, to Scott  Serson, DIAND, January 22, 1996 (ICC Documents,  pp.

424-25 ). Mike B ouliane, Sp ecific Claims B ranch, D IAN D, to Jerom e Slavik, A ckroyd, P iasta, Roth &  Day,

Barristers and  Solicitors, February 7 , 1996 (IC C D ocum ents, p. 426).

Nation’s claim was not being accepted for negotiation, and finally a February 1996 letter from the

Specific Claims Branch saying that the “acceptance package” was in abeyance, since DIAND was

reviewing the “whole issue of the entitlement to the economic benefits of Treaty No. 8 and other

similar treaties . . . from a policy perspective.” That letter stated that a decision was anticipated

within the next three months.46



PART III

ISSUES

The claim submitted by the Mikisew Cree First Nation to the Minister raised two issues: (1) whether,

under Treaty 8, there was an existing and outstanding lawful obligation on the part of Canada to

provide economic benefits to the First Nation; and (2) the nature and value of any such outstanding

benefits. Since, at the date of this report, the Minister has agreed to negotiate the claim, there has

been no Commission inquiry into either issue. We make no findings of fact nor any comment on the

merits of the First Nation’s claim for economic benefits under Treaty 8. This report has set out the

background to the First Nation’s claim, based on documents the First Nation provided.

The Commission’s authority to conduct an inquiry into this claim was challenged by Canada,

and this preliminary question was considered by the Commission. The Commission concluded that

it had the authority to conduct an inquiry in these circumstances. Part IV of the report outlines the

positions of the parties and the Commission’s decision.
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Ma rch 5 , 199 6 (ICC  Do cum ents, p p. 43 3-34 ). 
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A. François D aigle, Counsel, Specific Claims O ttawa, DIAN D Lega l Services, to Isa Gros-

Louis Ahenakew, Associate Legal Counsel,  Indian Claims Commission, June 12, 1996 (ICC Documents,  pp.

464-74 ).
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Citing  an A ugu st 1, 19 95, lette r from  Chie f Arc hie W aqua n, M ikisew  Cree  First N ation, to

the Ho nourab le Ron Irw in, Minister for Indian  Affairs (ICC  Docu ments, pp . 414-17).

51
A. François D aigle, Counsel, Specific Claims O ttawa, DIAN D Lega l Services, to Isa Gros-

Louis Ahenakew, Associate Legal Counsel,  Indian Claims Commission, June 12, 1996 (ICC Documents,  p.

465).

PART IV

THE COMMISSION’S AUTHORITY TO CONDUCT AN INQUIRY

As discussed above, the parties disagreed whether the facts of this case met the threshold for the

Commission to conduct an inquiry. The question was whether the First Nation’s claim had been

rejected by the Minister. The claimant asked the Commission to conclude that DIAND’s conduct

in the three years since the First Nation submitted its claim was tantamount to a rejection.47 

In March 1996, the Commission advised Canada that the First Nation had requested an

inquiry.48 In June 1996, Justice wrote to the Commission, explaining how Canada regarded the

progress of the claim.49 This letter asserted that the Band had been informed DIAND was prepared

to recommend negotiation of the claim under the Specific Claims Policy. Moreover, since the Band

disputed DIAND’s “narrow and literal interpretation of the provisions of Treaty 8,”50 the letter

argued that the real issue was the different interpretations that each party had of Treaty 8 (rather than

whether to negotiate at all). Counsel for Canada stated:

Canada does not agree or admit that the claim has been rejected. The claimant has
been advised that the acceptance of the claim for negotiation has been postponed
pending the results of a review of the issue from a policy perspective. The matter is
still under review.51 

A planning conference for the Commission’s inquiry into the First Nation’s claim was held

June 14, 1996. The First Nation had requested that a meeting with DIAND take place before the
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conference, in order to discuss the Department’s “policy and approach” in the matter, or to discuss

the stage reached in the Department’s policy development on the issue of economic benefits claims.52

In reply, the Specific Claims Branch confirmed that the acceptance package was being “held in

abeyance pending a review of the issue by the department from a policy perspective” and that the

review had not been completed within the three additional months as anticipated on February 7,

1996.53

In another letter, dated June 27, 1996, the Specific Claims Branch said that DIAND would

not be able to announce its decision prior to July 31, 1996, but consideration of the claim was

“ongoing.” The First Nation’s claim had not been rejected under the Specific Claims Policy;

therefore, the Department was “unable to agree that [the] claim be ‘deemed’ rejected for the purposes

of an inquiry by the Commission.”54 On July 16, 1996, after the planning conference, the

Commission asked the parties to make written submissions on the question of the Commission’s

authority to proceed with the inquiry.55

Before any submissions were received, the Director General of Specific Claims Branch wrote

to the Chief of the Mikisew Cree First Nation suggesting that, since the internal policy paper had

been completed, nothing should hold up the review of the claim: 

[I]t is my intention to have the issues raised by your specific claim considered by the
Senior Policy Committee at a September meeting. Once we have obtained
instructions, we should be in a position to resume and complete our review of your
specific claim and advise whether we are prepared to enter into settlement
negotiations pursuant to the Specific Claims Policy.
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Michel Roy, Director General,  Specific Claims Branch, DIAND , to Chief Archie Waquan,
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. . .let me reiterate that the claim has not been rejected by Canada. We
continue to work steadily toward our goal of resolving the outstanding policy issues
raised by your specific claim.56

THE FIRST NATION’S POSITION

The Mikisew Cree First Nation maintained that the Commission’s mandate did extend to the

particular facts surrounding the First Nation’s specific claim.57 Within the limits of the constituting

Order in Council, it argued, the Commission is an investigative body with the discretion to decide

its own jurisdiction and procedures. In particular, the Commission could determine what amounted

to a “rejection” of a claim as contemplated by the phrase “already rejected by the Minister,” i.e.,

according to the Terms of Reference).

 Aside from verbal or written rejections of a claim, a person could conclude that a party had

expressed its rejection by “action, inaction, or other conduct, such as the refusal or inability to make

a decision . . . within a reasonable period of time, which is tantamount to a rejection, despite claims

to the contrary.” The First Nation argued that, even where no statutory time limit is placed on a

Crown decision maker, previous court decisions indicate that the Crown’s decision must be made

within a reasonable time.

Counsel for the claimant argued that DIAND had already concluded that agricultural and

farming entitlements had not been provided to the Mikisew Cree First Nation:

After extensive research, DIAND concluded in 1994 . . . these entitlements were not
provided to the MCFN. This finding should have very promptly led to an
acknowledgement of an outstanding lawful and fiduciary obligation. Yet, after 3 1/2
years, DIAND has refused to acknowledge a lawful obligation in this matter. They
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60
Canada also distinguished the mandate challenge in this Mikisew case from that in the Lac La

Ronge Candle Lake and Schools Inquiry where the Commission relied on correspondence from DIAND  that

had been written in the context of l it igation as evidence of the rejection of a claim. In the Lac La Ronge

Inquiry, the government had taken the position that,  unless a rejection had taken place within the context of the

specific claims process, it would not be a rejection which was within the Comm ission’s Terms of Reference.

Although the claims in issue had been explicitly rejected, in writing, by the Senior Assistant Deputy Minister

of DIAND , the government’s position was that this “rejection” was outside the “process.” The government had

also argued that the specific claims process could not operate while a claim was the subject of active lit igation,

which w as the case for b oth of the claim s. In the decision, on  behalf of the C omm issioners, Justice R obert

Reid explained that the Commission’s exercise of jurisdiction must above all else be governed by

have refused to either accept a lawful obligation, enabling the claim to proceed to
negotiation, or outright reject the claim, thus allowing our client to proceed with
alternative remedies, whether in court or before the ICC.58

Although the Crown must be given a reasonable time to assess its lawful obligation to the First

Nation, in this case the policy issues which were explained as the reason for the government’s delay

in deciding whether to negotiate the claim (the first stage of the process) should have been left to the

the next stage of the process. In other words, determining the settlement value of the claim was

irrelevant to the question whether a “lawful obligation” existed.

The First Nation concluded that “the unwillingness, inability, and refusal [of the Minister]

to decide, when combined with the extensive delay and other conduct of the Crown in this matter,

[were] a breach of fiduciary conduct and obligation,” and were tantamount to a rejection of the First

Nation’s claim by Canada.

CANADA’S POSITION

The starting point for Canada’s written argument was that the Commission’s role was

“fundamentally linked and limited to reviewing Canada’s application of the Specific Claims Policy”

and that the question of the Commission’s mandate to consider the First Nation’s claim had to be

considered in light of that limited role.59 Canada emphasized that in this case there was no

documentary basis for concluding that the Mikisew Cree First Nation’s claim had been rejected.60
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considerations of fairness. The Commissioners also did not accept that the specific claims and lit igation

processes must be mutually exclusive and, in any event, “[t]he Commissioners interpret their mandate as

reme dial. A ccord ingly, th ey interp ret it broa dly to ac hieve  its objec tive, w hich is  to ens ure, to th e bes t of their

ability, that claims which may be reasonably considered to fall  within it  are disposed of fairly.” The decision

was that the Commission did  have  the au thority to  cons ider the  claim s (ICC  Do cum ents, p p. 40 3-10 ). 

Counsel for Canada argued that the relevant documentary evidence, which covered January

1993 to July 31, 1996, clearly showed that the First Nation’s claim had not been rejected. What that

correspondence did show was that Canada had not yet completed its review of the First Nation’s

claim; therefore, Canada had not decided whether to accept or reject the claim for negotiation.

Since the First Nation had made submissions to the Minister following the March 1994 letter

outlining Canada’s preliminary position, this action showed that the claimant never believed the

claim had been rejected. The fact that there had been later meetings between the parties, and that the

claimant had submitted additional evidence and arguments, also confirmed the ongoing review of

the claim.

Canada argued that the “mandate” dispute between the parties did not have to do with a

“rejection” of the claim; instead, Canada said that the First Nation was objecting to the time that

DIAND had taken to respond to the claim. On February 7, 1996, the First Nation was told that

review of the claim had been delayed while the Department conducted a policy review of treaty

entitlements. The First Nation was also told that Specific Claims intended to complete the review

as soon as possible, probably within three months. However, instead of waiting the three months,

the First Nation had requested that the Commission conduct an inquiry. Since January 1993, when

the claim was filed, there had been “numerous” meetings between the parties, and research and other

reports had been obtained and shared with the First Nation. Even 11 months after August 1995, the

evidence was that Canada was actively reviewing the claim; the Specific Claims Branch was “fully

committed” to completing its review.

In conclusion, Canada argued that the facts showed that the claim had been, and still was,

under active consideration. The Specific Claims Branch had continued to state that it was committed

to having the First Nation’s claim reviewed by senior department officials. DIAND’s conduct,

therefore, could not be seen as inaction tantamount to a rejection of the First Nation’s claim.
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THE COMMISSION’S DECISION

The Commission’s decision to conduct an inquiry into the First Nation’s claim was set out in a letter

dated November 18, 1996 (attached as Appendix A to this report). It stated that the issue to be

determined was whether DIAND’s delay was tantamount to a rejection of the First Nation’s claim.

The history of the claim, including the main events and correspondence from January 1993 to July

24, 1996, was summarized. The letter concluded:

After considering the nature of the issues involved and the amount of time that this
claim has been under review by the Specific Claims Branch, Co-Chair Bellegarde
concluded that Canada has had sufficient time to determine whether an outstanding
“lawful obligation” is owed to the [First Nation]. Under the circumstances, he
considered the lengthy delay as being tantamount to a rejection of the claim for the
purposes of determining whether [the Commissioners] have authority to proceed with
an inquiry under their terms of reference. . . . Furthermore, the inquiry has been
scheduled in such a manner as to provide Canada with additional time to respond to
the merits of the claim before proceeding with written and oral submissions. If
Canada decides to accept the claim, it will not be necessary for the Commission to
complete the inquiry.

. . .

. . . It is significant that the Specific Claims Branch initially offered to enter
into negotiations with the Mikisew Cree First Nation under the policy on June 12,
1995 . . . Over seventeen months have passed and Canada has yet to respond to a
discrete legal question, namely, whether the Mikisew Cree First Nation received any
of the economic entitlements promised under Treaty 8. . . .

. . . The claimant has provided enough information for Canada to make a
decision and, indeed, no further requests for information have been made by Canada.
Since Canada refused to provide a certain date within which to respond and has not
offered any valid explanation for the delay, other than to say that it is under active
review, it is justifiable to conclude that a seventeen month delay is tantamount to a
rejection of the claim for the purposes of responding to the Mikisew Cree First
Nation’s request for an inquiry.61 
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A Commission community session was scheduled for November 26, 1996. On November 20, 1996,

the Commission received word that Canada had accepted the claim for negotiation,62 and the

community session was cancelled. Canada’s formal offer to negotiate was dated December 16,

1996.63 A meeting between the parties was planned for February 3, 1997.64 As a result, the

Commission has suspended this inquiry.

POSTSCRIPT

On December 20, 1996, in the period between Canada’s December 16, 1996, offer to negotiate the

First Nation’s claim and the scheduled February 3, 1997, meeting, the First Nation began a lawsuit

in the Alberta courts against Canada and the Province of Alberta. This litigation was filed by a firm

other than the one handling the economic benefits claim.65 The lawsuit alleges that the federal Crown

and its representatives engaged in misrepresentation, intentional concealment of the facts, fraud, and

other behaviour in breach of fiduciary obligations in the negotiation of Treaty 8, that both the federal

and provincial Crowns are in breach of the terms of Treaty 8, that both the federal and provincial

Crowns engaged in misrepresentation, intentional concealment of the facts, fraud, and other

behaviour in breach of fiduciary obligations in the negotiation of the 1986 Agreement, and that both

the federal and provincial Crowns are in breach of the 1986 Agreement. In particular, this Statement

of Claim seeks general and aggravated damages (each in the amount of one billion dollars), an order



24 Indian Claims Commission

of specific performance in accordance with the terms of Treaty 8, and a declaration that the Treaty

8 obligation to provide lands to the First Nation is in fact an obligation in perpetuity.

In light of this lawsuit, Canada has declined to negotiate the First Nation’s claim for

economic benefits, at least until the implications of the lawsuit have been “fully analyzed.” At the

date of this report, the Commission understands that Canada and the First Nation have not begun

negotiating the First Nation’s claim for economic benefits.



PART V

CONCLUSION

In light of Canada’s offer to accept the Mikisew Cree First Nation’s claim for negotiation under the

Specific Claims Policy, it is no longer necessary for an inquiry to be held into this matter. In making

this report, we wish to affirm that it is essential that process and systemic issues in the specific

claims process, such as the development of government policy regarding a certain category of claim,

not be allowed to frustrate the timely acceptance or rejection for negotiation of individual claims,

or frustrate the timely negotiation and settlement of those claims that have been accepted by Canada

for negotiation. At a minimum, delay must be explained by something more than an assertion that

a claim is “under active review,” and projected completion dates should be met, or, at the least,

failure to meet those dates must be explained in a meaningful manner. Just as fairness was the

criterion governing the decision to conduct a Commission inquiry into the First Nation’s claim,

fairness to the parties must be the criterion that guides the conduct of either party seeking the

resolution of a First Nation’s claim.

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

Daniel J. Bellegarde P.E. James Prentice, QC Carole T. Corcoran
Commission Co-Chair Commission Co-Chair Commissioner

Dated this 27th day of March, 1997.



APPENDIX A

THE COMMISSION’S DECISION: RE MANDATE
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